

Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews 16 (1995) 195-214



## Long circulating microparticulate drug carriers

S. Stolnik, L. Illum and S.S. Davis\*

Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Nottingham, University Park, Nottingham NG7 2RD, UK

Accepted 13 April 1995

#### Abstract

To exert its activity a drug must reach its pharmacological site(s) of action(s) within the body. One of the current approaches to achieve site specific delivery utilises the use of a carrier. This review focuses on the physicochemical and biological properties of polymeric particulate carriers in the nanometre size range surface modified by poly(ethylene oxide) (PEO). Such systems are able to bypass the normal physiological defence processes occurring after the intravenous injection of particulates and, depending on the particle size and PEO layer properties, remain for a prolonged period of time in the systemic circulation, or have a degree of selectivity for sites of deposition within the body.

Keywords: Particulate (colloid) drug delivery system; Poloxamer; Poloxamine; Poly(ethylene oxide); PEG copolymer; Drug targeting; Biodegradable material; Protein adsorption; Biodistribution

## Contents

Introduction	196
1.1. PEO-coated particles	196
1.2. The reticuloendothelial system	196
1.3. Opsonization and dysopsonization	197
1.4. Particle characteristics and opsonization	197
Surface modification	198
2.1. Surface hydrophobicity	198
2.2. PEO-coated surfaces	198
Biological effects of PEO coated surfaces	199
3.1. Polystyrene particles	199
3.2. Poly(methyl methacrylate) particles	199
3.3. Block copolymer structure	199
3.4. Particle size	199
Biodegradable long circulating particulate carriers	200
4.1. Emulsification procedures	200
4.2. Phase separation procedures	201
4.3. Common solvent approach	201
4.4. PEO-grafted biomaterials	202
4.5. Coated systems	202
4.5.1. In vivo results	203

\* Corresponding author.

	4.6. 'Self-forming' systems	204
5.	Properties of PEO layer	204
	5.1. Adsorption of block copolymers	205
	5.2. Polymer conformation	205
	5.3. Nature of solid surface	206
	5.4. Particle size	207
6.	Adsorption of plasma proteins onto PEO coated carriers	207
	6.1. Optimal protein resistance	208
	6.2. Computer modelling	208
	6.3. Critical plasma components	209
7.	Concluding remarks	209
R	eferences	209

### 1. Introduction

## 1.1. PEO-coated particles

Since the time of Erlich it has been an ultimate aim of drug therapy to deliver a drug exclusively to its pharmacological site(s) of action(s) in a controlled manner appropriate to the disease. One current approach to achieve site-specific delivery involves the use of a carrier which should alter the normal physiological distribution of the drug and direct it to its pharmacological site(s) of action. One such carrier, composed of polymeric particles in the nanometre size range, the surface of which is covered by a layer of poly(ethylene oxide), can bypass the normal physiological defence processes occurring after intravenous injections of particulates (Fig. 1). Furthermore, depending on the particle size and properties of the PEO layer, particles remain for a prolonged period of time in the systemic circulation or show a certain extent of selectivity in the site of deposition within the body.

The design of these systems is based on collective knowledge gleaned from different research fields. During the nineteen sixties the concept of incorporating a drug into a polymeric or macromolecular particulate carrier (microencapsulation) was introduced by pharmaceutical scientist as a means to modify the physicochemical and biological properties of the entrapped drug [1]. In the field of colloid science, in 1971 Napper and Netchey [2] published their classic study on the principle of steric stabilization of colloid particles by an adsorbed macromolecular or polymer layer on the surface. Later, in 1978, van Oss [3] showed that many pathogenic bacteria possess a surface that consists of a highly hydrophilic hydrated layer of protein, polysaccharide and glycoprotein which reduces their interaction with blood components and inhibit phagocytosis of the bacteria by the cells of reticuloendothelial system. At about the same time Abuchowski and Davis [4] reported that covalent attachment of poly(ethylene oxide) to proteins gives conjugates that are nonimmunogenic and nonantigenic and have greatly increased serum lifetimes.

Few years later, in pivotal studies Illum and Davis [5-7] used a range of amphipathic poly-(ethylene oxide) containing block copolymers to modify the surface of model particulate drug carrier (polystyrene latex) by forming a steric barrier on the particle surface which resulted in the carrier having a greatly prolonged blood circulation lifetime due to reduced uptake by the cells of reticuloendothelial system. Following this lead various research groups have recently reported on the preparation of biodegradable carriers with PEO-modified surface which have size and the surface properties comparable to the model polystyrene coated latex [8-11]. Some of these systems, including liposomes, have been shown to have prolonged systemic circulation and reduced deposition in the RES.

#### 1.2. The reticuloendothelial system

During the last twenty years extensive studies on the potential of various particulate carriers to serve as targetable systems have identified that the major obstacle to active targeting is the ability of the cells of reticuloendoethelial system (RES) to rapidly remove intravenously applied particulates from the systemic circulation [12– 16]. The design of long circulating particulate systems is therefore reliant upon a proper understanding of mechanism(s) by which particulates are cleared by the macrophages of the RES, a process which is still poorly understood.

## 1.3. Opsonization and dysopsonization

The clearance process is mediated by an array of blood components that interacts with particulates introduced into the circulation, the so called opsonization process. It renders particles recognisable to the RES. It is now recognized that phagocytosis by elements of the RES in the liver (Kupffer cells) is regulated by the presence and balance between two groups of blood components: opsonins, that promote the phagocytosis, and dysopsonins, that suppress the process [17-20]. The former have been described as proteinaceous components of the blood that adsorb onto the surface of particulates and/or cells, thereby making foreign material more 'palatable' to phagocytes [18,19]. Immunoglobulins and components of the complement system (particularly C3 and C5) are known as classical opsonin molecules, while fibronectin, Creactive protein and tuftsin have also been shown to enhance recognition of various particulates by different macrophages. Recently, the presence of 'organ-specific' opsonins has been proposed by Moghimi and Patel [18] where, for instance, the liver specific opsonin can enhance the uptake of particulates by Kupffer cells, whereas spleen specific opsonins could mediate the uptake of particulates by spleen macrophages. Immunoglobulin IgA and secretory IgA are the best known dysopsonins. The mode of their action is not known, although a high hydrophilicity of the molecule has been suggested as a possible explanation [20]. Recently, two serum components, one with molecular weight below 30 kDa and the second heat stable, greater than 100 kDa were proposed to be responsible for exerting the dysopsonic effect when polystyrene latex sterically stabilized with Poloxamine 908 (poly(ethylene oxide)-based copolymer) was injected into the blood stream and was partly cleared by the Kupffer cells [21,22]. The detailed description of the opsonization process and its effects on the

uptake of particulates can be found elsewhere [19,23] and in this volume.

## 1.4. Particle characteristics and opsonization

Very little is known about the effects that the surface of injected particles has on the opsonization process. However, due to the protein(aceous) nature of blood components that interact with a particle, the factors that determine adsorbability of proteins to solid surfaces, such as surface chemistry, charge and hydrophilicity [24-28] undoubtedly play an important role. The interaction of the particles with blood proteins will, depending on their surface properties, be qualitatively and quantitatively different. This may account for the different patterns of blood clearance and specific sites of deposition in the body. The hydrophilicity/hydrophobicity of the particle surface affects their attractive forces, thereby influencing the opsonization process and interaction forces that govern adhesion of the particle to the cell. In general, a higher protein adsorbability of hydrophobic relative to hydrophilic surfaces [24,29,30] has been related to enhanced uptake of more hydrophobic particles by phagocytes in vitro [31,32] and rapid removal of hydrophobic particles in vivo [7]. The charge on the particle surface influences the electrostatic interactions with components in a surrounding milieu. It should be noted that the range of electrostatic interactions decreases with increasing ionic strength and in blood (having an ionic strength of approximately 0.15 M), the range is less than 1 nm. Some of the basic aspects of the attractive and repulsive interactions between particles and blood components or a cell surface can be rationalized by the classical DLVO theory, well known in colloid science in the form of a potential energy diagram [33,34]. However in a biological environment the situation is far more complex and, although, for instance, the surface charge has been recognised for many years as an important determinant of particule clearance from the circulation, there is conflicting evidence regarding its effect [35-37]. Nevertheless, it is a general view that negative surface charge increases the clearance of particulates from the circulation, relative to neutral or positively charged ones.

## 2. Surface modification

## 2.1. Surface hydrophobicity

The concept of surface modification of particulate carriers to control the opsonization process and the specific interaction of particulate carriers with phagocytic cells as well as the non-specific interaction with blood components and phagocytic cells, raises a question about the optimal coating material and optimal surface properties of the carrier. There are many water compatible hydrophilic macromolecules and polymers which, in principle, may form the hydrophilic, hydrated steric barrier on the particle surface. However, the effect of a gelatin polvactide/polvglycolide coating on microspheres on their in vitro phagocytosis illustrates that any hydrophilic layer does not necessarily have the anti-phagocytic effect [38]. Gelatin encourages the uptake of fibronectin, a blood component that provides particle recognition. Another highly hydrophilic polymer, dextran, failed to prevent the accumulation of coated poly(butyl cyanoacrylate) nanoparticles in the RES (mainly liver) after intravenous administration to rabbits [39]. The relative rigidity of this polymer, arising from the hindered rotation of individual glycopyranosil units around glucosidic linkages, and therefore an inability to create high density conformational clouds on the surface, could be a reason for such behaviour [40].

## 2.2. PEO-coated surfaces

Since 1977, [4] PEO has been the most successful synthetic material used to modify the interactions of solid surfaces with biological media. This has been demonstrated for particulate carriers with either grafted PEO [41] or adsorbed amphipathic PEO-copolymers, liposomes with incorporated PEO-derivatives [42-44] and biomedical implants with grafted PEO chains [45-47]. A range of amphipathic PEO copolymers with poly(propylene oxide) (PPO)

has been used to modify the surface of model polystyrene carrier rather than PEO homopolymer. This rationale is based on the experience in colloid science where amphipathic copolymers have been shown to provide effective steric stabilization [48,49]. When adsorbed onto a solid surface, the hydrophobic moiety anchors the copolymer and acts to prevent its desorption. Various amphipathic PEO and PPO copolymers of different composition and molecular weights are commercially available as Poloxamers and Poloxamines (BASF, Wyandote, USA), where Poloxamers have ABA block structure with central PPO block and two terminal PEO blocks (PEO-PPO-PEO), while Poloxamines are tetrafunctional block copolymers with four PEO-PPO blocks joined together by a central ethylene diamine bridge ((PEO-PPO)<sub>2</sub>-x-(PPO-PEO)<sub>2</sub>).

Other commercially available poly(ethylene oxide)-containing surfactants have also been tested. For instance a range of poly(ethylene oxide) sorbitan mono oleates (Polysorbates 20, 40 and 80) have been used for surface modification of poly(methyl methacrylate) nanoparticles. In vitro measurements showed that these surfactants failed to provide a hydrophilic steric barrier on the particle surface and therefore the presence of flocculated particles in the circulation is most likely the reason for an observed high accumulation in the lungs after intravenous application [50].

In the field of liposome research, along with PEG-surface modification, a prolonged systemic circulation in mice has also been achieved by imitating the surface composition of the red blood cells via incorporation of monosialoganglioside GM1 into the lipid phase [51-53]. The GM1 effect was suggested to be related to the reduction in opsonization brought about through increasing surface hydrophilicity (a sterically hindered negative charge on sialic acid), suppression of complement dependent phagocytosis and a barrier effect of the carbohydrate chains. A similar approach has recently been applied to poly(isobutyl cyanoacrylate) nanoparticles where orosomucoid, a sialic acid rich glycoprotein, was used [54]. However, in vitro results showed that the adsorbed orosomucoid layer can be desorbed/replaced with serum proteins and it is unlikely that this system would demonstrate acceptable in vivo behaviour.

Interestingly, it has recently been demonstrated that a relatively low molecular weight sugarbased surfactants (less than 2000 Da) are able to supress the in vitro phagocytosis of sub-micrometre polyester particles [55]. These surfactant materials are produced by attaching an oleophilic group (alkyl, cycloalkyl or aryl group) to a sugar molecule with 3 to 7 -CHOH- units in the chain.

#### 3. Biological effects of PEO surfaces

#### 3.1. Polystyrene particles

The PEO coating on the polystyrene latex surfaces produced by adsorption of Poloxamers and Poloxamines has been shown to significantly reduce interactions with blood components and thereby increase circulation lifetimes of the after intravenous injection [5–7, particles 21,22,57,58]. For instance, coating of the latex with Poloxamine 908 (contains four 5000 Da PEO chains and four 1000 Da PPO chains,  $(5000-1000)_{2} \times (1000-5000)_{2}$  Da) resulted in a prolonged circulation time in the vascular compartment while Poloxamer 407 (4400-3800-4400 Da) and Poloxamine 904 ((670-1000),  $\times$  (1000-670), Da) coatings resulted in particles with a reduced level of liver/spleen accumulation and in a redirection of a significant portion of the administered particles to the endothelial cells of the bone marrow of rabbits. Such discrimination in biological properties has been suggested to be due to the different surface properties produced by these copolymers and, consequently, differences in the interaction with plasma proteins. This determines the degree and balance of opsonins and dysopsonins that are adsorbed at the nanoparticle surface [21].

## 3.2. Poly(methyl methacrylate) particles

When used to modify the surface of another model carrier, poly(methyl methacrylate) nanoparticles, Poloxamers 407 and 338 (5600-3100-5600 Da) also reduced the liver uptake to a considerable extent. However, in these studies the spleen uptake was always higher than for polystyrene latex coated with the same copolymers. As a result the overall reticuloendothelial uptake was not reduced significantly [50,59].

#### 3.3. Block copolymer structure

Within the Poloxamer and Poloxamine series. only polymers with a certain optimal PEO and PPO molecular weight and composition have an ability to alter biological properties of nanoparticles. The low molecular weight polymers with shorter PEO chains, such as Poloxamers 108 (2000-950-2000 Da), 184 (570-1740-570 Da) and 235 (1190-2260-1190 Da) do not provide such an effective steric barrier towards in vitro phagocytosis [60]. Poloxamers with higher PEO molecular weight, 188 ( $M_w$  3300-1740-3300 Da) and 338 ( $M_{\rm w}$  5630-3130-5630 Da) both form an effective steric barrier but, while the higher molecular weight Poloxamer 338 maintained its ability to suppress in vitro phagocytosis in the presence of serum and prolong systemic circulation of the particles after intravenous injection [6], for Poloxamer 188 this effect was reduced [61]. Although the composition of the copolymers is the same (80% PEO and 20% PPO), it seems that the higher molecular weight of PPO part of Poloxamer 338 is important to provide sufficient anchoring of the copolymer to the particle surface towards desorption/displacement in the biological milieu.

#### 3.4. Particle size

It should be emphasised that, together with the surface characteristics, the size of the PEO modified particulate systems also determines biological fate. For instance, Poloxamer 407 was found effective in diverting nanoparticles smaller than 150 nm to the bone marrow of the rabbit whereas particles of 250 nm were mostly sequestered by the liver and spleen and only a small fraction reached the bone marrow [57]. An enhancement of the spleen uptake and decreased blood level was observed for the Poloxamine 908 coated latex greater than 200 nm following intravenous administration to rats [62]. A similar size-depen-

dent long circulating effect was also observed for GM1 and PEG-modified liposomes. Liposomes of diameters greater than approximately 300 nm had a significantly increased accumulation in the spleen [63]. It has been suggested that the mechanism of removal of the particles above approximately 200 nm by the spleen is a result of mechanical filtration (a function of splenic construction and intrasplenic microcirculation), followed by eventual phagocytosis in red pulp macrophages [62]. On the other hand, it has been demonstrated that long circulating effect has a lower size limit. For instance, irrespective of their composition, liposomes with diameters below approximately 70 nm demonstrated an increased accumulation in the liver [64]. This might be due to a possible penetration of such small particles through fenestrae in the endothelial lining of the liver and resulting association with parenchimal cells and/or a higher adsorption of blood proteins onto PEG layer formed on particles with such high curvature [64]. The effects of the particle size (curvature) on a formation and properties of PEO coating layer are described in section 5.4. Hence, the effect of the surface modification with PEO on prolonged circulation and the site of deposition of a particulate carrier appears to be limited to a relatively narrow size range of 70-200 nm.

## 4. Biodegradable long circulating particulate carriers

The studies on Poloxamers and Poloxamines modified polystyrene latices have demonstrated that by optimizing the particle size and by creation of a suitable PEO coating layer on the particle surface, an increase in circulation lifetime (and a certain extent of selectivity in delivery) may be achieved. However, for targeted systems to have a potential use in human therapy, polystyrene latex needs to be replaced by carriers made from biodegradable and biocompatible materials. Hence, our efforts and those of other research groups have been directed to a production of biodegradable and biocompatible particulate carriers. An appreciation of the importance of the design properties that successful targeted systems should meet (e.g., size and surface characteristics) places specific demands on the optimized production method. The first problem to solve has been the design of a preparation method for the production of particles with the size in the 70-200 nm range (referred to as nanoparticles or nanospheres). Until recently polymerization was the main method for the production of colloid particles in the nanometre size range. Hence polystyrene and polyacrylate particles have been used extensively as prototype carrier. Additionally, polystyrene latices are useful models since they are physicochemically well characterised systems and are commercially available in a broad range of particle sizes.

In the last few years modifications of classic emulsification solvent evaporation and phase separation methods [1,65–67] have resulted in nanosized biodegradable carriers becoming available (Fig. 1) [68–77].

#### 4.1. Emulsification procedures

A reduction in particle size to the nanometre range using an oil-in-water emulsification solvent evaporation method has been achieved by high speed stirring [72,73,75], sonication [75,76,78], or/and microfluidization [74,79]. For example, 250 nm sized polylactide nanoparticles were produced using high speed stirring followed by sonication [75,76] in the presence of polyvinyl alcohol or sodium dodecyl sulphate as the surfactant. However, attempts to modify subsequently the surface of these nanoparticles by adsorption of Poloxamers and Poloxamines did not lead to a formation of detectable coating layer. Secondary ion mass spectrometry analysis clearly demonstrated that, despite extensive cleaning, residual quantities of the surfactant used in the preparation were still present on the particle surface, which, most likely, inhibited Poloxamer and Poloxamine adsorption [80].

Particle size reduction to a sub-micrometre range can also be achieved by introducing a water miscible organic solvent (e.g. acetone) into the organic phase [73,81]. This effect has been attributed to the interfacial turbulence between



Fig. 1. Schematic diagram illustrating long-circulating nanoparticulate systems. (a) Polystyrene nanoparticles coated with Poloxamers and Poloxamines [5–7,21,22,57,62]. (b) Polystyrene nanoparticles with grafted PEO [41,95]. (c) Polylactide/glycolide nanoparticles with polylacide/glycolide-PEO copolymers, coated (A) or prepared from common solvent (B) [9,10,86,88]. (d) 'Self-forming' polylactide/glycolide-PEO block copolymers systems [11,98].

the organic phase and the water phase arising from the rapid diffusion of acetone across the interface, which spontaneously produces a larger interfacial area and results in finer droplets/particles.

#### 4.2. Phase separation procedures

Modifications of phase separation methods involve a simple mixing of a solution of a biodegradable matrix forming material in a water miscible organic solvent with an aqueous solution of the coating material under moderate stirring. The resulting nanoparticles are within a 100-300 nm size range [9,10,68,71,77,82-85]. The nanospheres are formed due to the desolvation of the polymer from its solution caused by mixing with the non-solvent. The presence of the coating material in the aqueous phase results in simultaneous surface modification of the particles during production. This approach also enables the production of a suspension of surfactant free nanoparticles which are stabilized in the suspension by an electrostatic repulsion arising from ionized groups on the particle surface [10,71,87]. These particles have been proven to be useful in assessing the surface properties of surfactant free biodegradable colloids and the effect that subsequent coating with amphipathic PEO copolymers has on such properties [10,87].

#### 4.3. Common solvent approach

Another approach to prepare biodegradable PEO-modified nanoparticles is to co-dissolve a coating polymer together with a matrix forming material in a common organic solvent [8,9,88]. For instance, 200 nm nanospheres were prepared by dissolving both the matrix forming polylac-tide/polyglycolide (PLGA) and coating polylac-

tide/polyglycolide-polyethylene glycol (PLGA-PEG) copolymer in a common solvent. This was followed by emulsification of the solution into a water phase. During evaporation of the organic solvent, the PLGA-PEG slowly reorientates with its PEG parts towards the outer water phase. It may be expected that such procedure would result in an entrapment of the PLGA block of PLGA-PEG copolymer into the forming nanoparticle matrix, resulting in a higher stability of the coating layer towards desorption/displacement.

#### 4.4. PEO-grafted biomaterials

polylactide/polyglycolide copolymers The have predominantly been used in nanoparticle production [8-10,75,76]. However, at the present time the most promising materials in this area appear to be copolymers formed by grafting of PEO to a biodegradable moiety, such as poly-[8,89–91], poly(caprolactone)-(lactide)-PEG poly(ethylene oxide) [88], or albumin-PEG [92] copolymers. So far, some of these materials have been introduced for nanoparticle preparation and modulation of the surface properties [8-11,88,89,91].

### 4.5. Coated systems

For the term 'coated systems' we refer to systems consisting of biodegradable polymeric

nanoparticles where the surface is modified by adsorption of PEO containing copolymers. Polylactide/polyglycolide (PLGA) nanoparticles, surface modified with a range of polylactide/polyethylene glycol copolymers (PLA-PEG) or Poloxamers, are examples of such systems [10,93,94]. The nanoparticles were prepared by the modified phase separation method and coated with either PLA-PEG 2:5 copolymer (5000 Da PEG chain) or 3:4 copolymer (2000 Da PEG chain; the PLA chain of both copolymers approximately 2000 Da). A comparison of the physicochemical properties of surfactant free uncoated and the PLA-PEGs coated nanoparticles clearly demonstrated that the PLA-PEGs form adsorbed lavers on the surface of the nanoparticles. The surface layer thickness and related decrease in surface negative charge, increased hydrophilicity and efficiency of the steric stabilization of the nanoparticles towards sodium sulphate induced flocculation and adsorption of model protein, were all found to be dependent on the molecular weight of the PEG moiety (Table 1). Such in vitro characterization indicated that the PLA-PEG 2:5 coated PLGA nanoparticles would be a good candidate system for the achievement of prolonged blood circulation since it had similar surface properties to the model Poloxamine 908 coated polystyrene latex. Indeed, in vivo results (Fig. 2) demonstrate a prolonged systemic circulation and reduced liver/ spleen accumulation of this system in comparison

Table 1

The physicochemical properties of uncoated and polystyrene and polylactide/glycolide (PLGA) nanoparticles coated with polylactic acid-poly(ethylene glycol) copolymer 2:5 (PLA-PEG 2:5) or Poloxamine 908.

	PLGA			Polystyrene		
	Uncoated	PLA:PEG 2:5	Poloxamine 908	Uncoated	PLA:PEG 2:5	Poloxamine 908
Particle size (nm)	$140.9 \pm 2.7$	161.7 ± 3.7	$160.4 \pm 3.8$	$164.3 \pm 3.2$	178.7 ± 3.5	$182.7 \pm 2.6$
Coating layer (nm)		$10.5 \pm 1.4^{\circ}$	$9.8 \pm 1.5$		$7.2 \pm 1.5$	$9.2 \pm 1.3$
Zeta potential (mV)	$-40.3 \pm 2.3$	$-18.5\pm1.4$	$-14.9 \pm 1.8$	$-44.7 \pm 1.7$	$-21.3 \pm 1.6$	$-15.8\pm2.2$
CFC (mol $1^{-1}$ )	0.05	0.45	0.55	0.05	0.50	0.55

<sup>a</sup> Standard error of difference.

The particle size was measured by photon correlation spectroscopy (Malvern Instruments, UK), the zeta potential by laser doppler anemometry (Malvern Zetasizer IV, Malvern Instruments, UK) in  $1 \times 10^{-3}$  M HEPES buffer, the critical coagulation/floculation concentration (CFC) was determined by measuring the nanoparticle suspension turbidity as a function of the electrolyte (sodium sulphate) concentration. The PLGA nanoparticles were prepared by the precipitation solvent evaporation method from poly(b,t-lactide-co-glycolide) 75:25,  $M_w$  63 kDa, polystyrene latex 156 ± 4.2 nm was obtained from Interfacial Dynamic Corporation, Portland, OR, USA.



Fig. 2. Blood clearance profiles for uncoated and PLA:PEG 2:5, PLA:PEG 3:4 and Poloxamine 908 coated PLGA (top) and polystyrene (bottom) nanoparticles in rats post intravenous injection. The PLGA nanoparticles were radiolabeled by entrapment of the Indium-111-oxine complex, while the polystyrene latex was surface labelled with Na<sup>125</sup>I. For each system three rats were injected via the lateral tail vein and the blood samples taken at various time intervals. The results are expressed as a percentage of the dose and a mean value of the three rats  $\pm$  standard deviation.

with uncoated PLGA colloid; the effects being comparable to those of the model Poloxamine 908 coated polystyrene latex system.

#### 4.5.1. In vivo results

Contrary to the in vitro results, the in vivo results reveal a distinct difference in the effect of PLA-PEGs coatings on PLGA and polystyrene nanoparticles. The coating layer of PLA-PEGs on polystyrene latex produces systems with an initial high circulation level, but after 3 h the organ deposition data show values similar to uncoated polystyrene nanoparticles (Fig. 2). Such a behaviour has been attributed to a gradual desorption/displacement of PLA-PEG coating from the polystyrene surface in vivo, which implies a difference in stability of the PLA-PEGs coating on polystyrene and PLGA nanoparticles. This may in turn be attributed to the higher affinity of the PLA anchor part of the PLA-PEG copolymers for the PLGA surface with the similar structure than for the polystyrene.

Langer and co-workers [9,86,88] have prepared PLGA nanoparticles in the presence of the range of PLGA-PEG copolymers with 5000, 12000 or 20000 Da PEGs. Increased blood circulation lifetimes in mice were seen as the PEG chain molecular weight increased, which the authors attributed to an effect of increased thickness of the protective PEG layer. However, in contrast to Langer's group, Spenlehauer et al. [8] have produced PLA particles using PLA-PEG copolymers with a relatively short PEG chain of 2100 Da for surface modification. After intravenous administration to rats, 140 nm sized nanoparticles prepared from a range of PLA and PLA-PEG 2100 mixtures showed a trend of an increasing blood circulation half-time from 2 to 43 min as the PLA-PEG 2100 to PLA ratio increased from 0 to 73 percent. These results show a similar trend to our own work on the range of the polystyrene nanoparticles with an increasing level of surface grafted PEG 2000 Da [95]. This would suggest that a sufficient surface coverage with relatively short PEG chains (2100 Da) can inhibit opsonization and produce nanoparticles with prolonged circulation times.

## 4.6. 'Self-forming' systems

As discussed above, the block copolymer Poloxamer 188 failed to produce an effect similar to other highly hydrophilic Poloxamers when adsorbed to particles [7,96]. It has been suggested that the same copolymer can be desorbed/ displaced from poly(isobutyl cyanoacrylate)

nanospheres in vitro by serum components [11]. These facts, taken together with our own experience with the PLA: PEGs coated polystyrene latex, clearly demonstrate how essential is the stability of the coating layer in modification of the particle interaction with the biological environment. The recent introduction of novel biodegradable copolymers with grafted PEG chains [8,9,11,89] for the production of PEG modified particulate carriers appears to be an elegant way to eliminate the possibility of desorption/displacement of the adsorbed PEG coating layer. In a selective solvent these copolymers form structures comparable to micelles with a core comprising of the relatively more hydrophobic blocks and a corona of the relatively more hydrophilic PEG blocks. Our present work on a series of PLA-PEG copolymers demonstrates that, depending on the composition and molecular weight of the copolymer, more dynamic (micelle like) or solid (particle like) structure can be formed [98]. The degree of association and the micelle size are dependent on the molecular weight of the copolymer and molecular weight of hydrophilic portion and its relative content [97,98]. This provides a possibility of producing the particles with different sizes and surface properties. For example, 116 nm sized nanoparticles were prepared from PLA-PEG copolymer consisting of a 30000 Da polylactide chain linked to 2000 Da PEG chain using a simple separation of the copolymer from its solution [11]. So far, in vitro complement activation tests performed on this system show a very low deposition of complement proteins, which would indicate effective PEO protection of the particles towards recognition.

## 5. Properties of PEO layer

It is evident from results with both model non-biodegradable and biodegradable systems that the surface modification of particulate carriers by the creation of a coating layer composed of PEO chains can result in the avoidance of the physiological processes that would normally occur after parenteral administration of the particles. The mechanism(s) leading to this effect has not been fully evaluated. Hence, systems exhibiting altered biological properties have been subjected to the extensive in vivo and in vitro investigations. As injected particles interact with the body components via their surface, the surface properties of the successful model system (e.g., surface chemistry, hydrophilicity, surface charge, coating layer thickness and arrangements of the PEO chains on the surface) have been extensively studied. This assists in our better understanding of the interactions of PEO modified surfaces with the biological environment and, consequently, in designing new long circulating and targetable systems.

## 5.1. Adsorption of block copolymers

The adsorption of Poloxamers or Poloxamines on a model polystyrene system suspended in water is driven by a selective solvation of the copolymer, since water is good solvent for the PEO and a non-solvent for the PPO block. The process is apparently controlled by the composition of the copolymer blocks and the properties of the surface. The arrangements of the PEO-PPO-PEO molecules on the surface, responsible for the interaction of the system with the biological environment, would be best characterised by a segment density profile. For the adsorption of block copolymers the self-consistent field model predicts that the adsorbing blocks are located predominantly in vicinity of the surface, with the segment density profile nearly the same as for a homopolymer with the same structure and molecular weight [99]. Buoy blocks protrude far into the solution with a profile that is about the same as that of a corresponding homopolymer. Experimentally, small angle neutron scattering provides the most comprehensive description of adsorbed layer conformation, by allowing the segment density distribution to be determined. However, the method is still relatively inaccessible and there are very few data reported. The segment density profiles for two Poloxamers (with PEO chains of 15000 and 6000 Da) on D-polystyrene latex have been determined, and show that for both copolymers the segment distribution declines exponentially from the surface without any peaks, resembling that of adsorbed PEO homopolymer [100]. This has been attributed to both PPO and PEO blocks adsorbing to the surface, although the authors left open a possibility of alternative surface conformations in which there is a more organized structure.

## 5.2. Polymer conformation

To obtain an idea of the adsorbed polymer conformation other approaches and techniques have been used in a complementary manner. These tend to combine the data from an adsorption isotherm (determined usually from difference in a polymer concentration in bulk solution before and after the adsorption) with adsorbed layer thickness (determined by photon correlation spectroscopy, viscosimetry, centrifugation or electrophoresis) and fraction of segments in contact with the surface (determined by infrared spectroscopy, magnetic resonance or microcalorimetry) (these methods are reviewed in Refs. [101-103]). It should be noted that in applying different experimental techniques the values measured for the coating layer thickness will differ, as each of them probe different property of the layer [104].

The layer thickness of PEO-PPO-PEO copolymers adsorbed onto polystyrene latex increases proportionally as the molecular weight of the PEO increases [60,105-110]. The theoretical model for block copolymer adsorption from selective solvent [99,111-114] has been applied to the layer thicknesses data. To describe the dependence of the hydrodynamic layer thickness on the molecular weight of the PEO chain an expression  $\partial = M^a$  can be used. Values for the scaling factor a of 0.55 [115], 0.84 [108], 0.5 [110] or 0.55 [106] have been calculated from experimental results, in comparison to the theoretical value of 0.7 for adsorption of asymmetric selectively solvated copolymers with the adsorbing block relatively small in comparison to the buoy block [112]. This suggests that the adsorption of hydrophilic PEO-PPO copolymers with higher molecular weight PEO chains is dominated by osmotic repulsion between the PEO blocks. This leads to a larger separation between the anchoring sites and hence lower surface coverage, which in turn causes less stretching of the buoy chains from the surface. A nonlinear dependence of the layer thickness on the number of monomer units in the buoy chain is then found. (An extremely strong surface affinity of anchor PPO block may overcome the osmotic repulsions between buoy chains, resulting in greater surface coverage and further stretching of the buoy chains form the surface. In this case, the scaling exponent would increase towards 1).

In order to assess the conformation of the PEO chain in the adsorbed layer, the coating layer thickness has been compared with the dimensions of the isolated PEO chains free in solution. Such a comparisons has shown that the hydrodynamic layer thickness is, at a sufficient surface coverage, greater than twice the hydrodynamic radius of polymer coil in its dilute solution (referred to as radius of gyration,  $R_{a}$ ). For instance, when adsorbed onto 67 nm sized polystyrene latex, PEO-PPO-PEO copolymers with 880, 1630 and 5680 Da for each PEO chain form an adsorbed layer of 10.5, 12.5 and 13.5 nm, respectively. The calculated values of twice the radius of gyration are 1.8, 2.2 and 4.4 nm, respectively [110]. This indicates that the PEO chains of the molecules on the surface are not arranged in the form of a true random coil, as in solution (the layer thickness  $2R_g$  would be expected), but are stretched out towards the surrounding solution as elongated coils [108,110]. Similar coil elongation has been observed for PEO homopolymer on polystyrene latex [104]. It should be noted that at lower surface coverage (below the plateau of adsorption) the chains are less compressed and adopt a structure that lies more on the surface (similar to a mushroom shape).

The PPO block of the PEO-PPO-PEO copolymers adsorbed onto hydrophobic surfaces is believed to lie flat as a compact coil or disc on the surface [105,106,110] and contribute negligibly to the adsorption layer thickness. Recent studies on adsorption of a PS-PVP block copolymer from a selective solvent [116] show that there is an effect of the anchoring block on the adsorbed layer thickness, where the maximum layer thickness occurs at a certain ratio of anchoring to buoy blocks. Such a maximum is predicted by the mean field theory [114], but the results of Webber and Anderson [116] show a sharper variation of the hydrodynamic layer thickness with the size of the adsorbing block which may be attributed to a few factors. A clustering of the adsorbing blocks at the surface due to selective solvent conditions is one of these factors. The importance of an optimal size of the PPO block to prevent desorption/displacement of the coating layer in contact with biological systems was discussed earlier.

### 5.3. Nature of solid surface

As already mentioned, the nature of the solid surface influences the adsorption process [117-120]. This should be appreciated when designing long circulating biodegradable particulate carriers using the same procedure adopted for the model polystyrene latex systems (i.e., via adsorbtion of amphipathic PEO copolymers onto the surface). The PEO-PPO-PEO copolymers exhibit high affinity for a hydrophobic polystyrene latex [105,110,117,121] but the differences in chemistry, polarity and hydrophilicity between the polystyrene and biodegradable surfaces can lead to a different adsorption behaviour and, consequently, different physicochemical and biological properties of the carrier. For instance, adsorption of Poloxamine surfactants onto biodegradable colloidal particles of poly(beta-malic acid-co-benzyl malate) is influenced by the existence of electrostatic interactions between the tertiary nitrogens in Poloxamine molecules and the carboxyl groups present on the surface of the particles. Such behaviour was not observed for polystyrene latex [77]. Similarly, the amount of PEO-PPO-PEO copolymer adsorbed onto hydrophilic colloidal silica particles is much lower than onto a hydrophobically modified surface. The model calculations suggest a different distribution of the PEO and PPO block segments in the adsorbed layer. The PEO blocks, interacting with the water and hydrophilic surface, are preferentially located in the proximity of the surface and in the outer part of the layer, while PPO blocks, interacting poorly with both water and the hydrophilic surface, are situated primarily in the middle part of the adsorbed layer [122].

## 5.4. Particle size

Another effect that the substrate has on the adsorbed PEO-PPO-PEO layer is that of particles size (curvature) on the layer thickness. Within the particle size range required for targetable systems (70-200 nm) a thicker layer is formed on larger particle; the effect being less pronounced as the particle radius increases and particle surface becomes less curved. The effect has been attributed to the steric effects of the chains on the surface [106,109,123]. Recently, Wijmans et al. [124] used the self-consistent mean field theory to discuss the effect of particle size (i.e., curvature) on the adsorption and layer thickness of a diblock copolymer. The model shows that curved geometry of smaller particles allows more lateral freedom for buoy blocks which makes the adsorption process entropically favourable and results in an increased adsorbed amount on smaller particles while, interestingly, the layer thickness decreases on smaller particles, which implies that the volume fraction profile of buoy moiety falls off more quickly than on the larger particles. However, the authors emphasised that this curvature effect depends strongly on the way in which the adsorbed layer thickness is defined.

The particle size also affects the mobility of the PEO chains [109]. The same PEO-PPO-PEO copolymer adsorbed onto particles in the size range from 69 to 272 nm showed higher mobility on smaller particles, which would indicate more lateral movements of the chains on smaller particles. Together with the fact that the particle size affects the adsorbed amount and layer thickness, these differences in the properties of the adsorbed layer on the particles of different size would imply that a presentation of the layer to the body after administration may differ, resulting in different biological properties. This may be related to the differences in biodistribution seen for 250 and 150 nm sized polystyrene latex coated with the same Poloxamer 407 polymer (as described above in section 3.4.).

The so-called 'self-forming systems' have not yet been so extensively characterised, but analogy with micellar systems suggests that there would be differences in arrangement of the PEO chains in the corona depending on the 'micelle' size and PEO molecular weight [97,125].

The PEO layer formed on long circulating particles produces systems which are effectively sterically stabilized [10,60,121] have decreased surface potential [10,60,126] and increased surface hydrophilicity relative to uncoated controls [77,95,127]. The extent of all these effects is proportional to the size (molecular weight) of the PEO chain (Table 1). These physicochemical characterizations have been used to quantify the PEO effects on the in vitro and in vivo properties of the coated systems, and also to assess the potential of candidate systems to achieve desired effects. For instance, our recent results have established a correlation between hydrophilicity/ hydrophobicity of the surface of nanoparticles covered with a range of Poloxamers and Poloxamines and interstitial drainage and regional lymph node distribution in rats after subcutaneous administration [128]. From the established relationship on optimum chain length for maximum regional lymph node uptake could be predicted.

# 6. Adsorption of plasma proteins onto PEO coated carriers

The long circulating PEO-coated carriers exhibit reduced adsorption of blood proteins [58,129-136]. This effect of PEO on protein adsorption has been attributed to several factors involving, among others, the unique solution properties and molecular conformation of PEO in aqueous solution. It has been suggested that PEO segments nicely fill out voids in the water structure and minimally perturb the structure of water itself, thereby minimizing the tendency for hydrophobic interactions. PEO produces a surface that is in a liquid-like state with the polymer chains exhibiting considerable flexibility and mobility [137-139]. The high mobility of PEO chains has been proposed to repel approaching proteins from the surface because the protein does not have sufficient contact time with the mobile chains to adsorb [138]. Furthermore, the reduced mobility of the PEO chains on a highly crowded surface (produced by grafting of bran-

ched PEO derivatives) has been suggested as the reason for higher protein adsorption on this system relative to the surface modified with linear PEO chains [140]. The effect was clearly evident for the PEO up to 1700 Da. It should be noted that recent studies [109] have shown a reduced mobility of PEO chains when Poloxamer 108 (1850-930-1850 Da) was adsorbed onto larger 272 nm than onto smaller 69 nm sized polystyrene latex. One may speculate that this could generate differences in adsorption characteristics of these surfaces. The second factor contributing the protein resistance arises from unfavourable compression of conformationallyrandom PEO chains on the approach of a protein [138]. Another possible contributing factor is suggested to be a minimum interfacial free energy of water-PEO interfaces. Proteins at or near to PEO on a surface will not feel any greater attraction from the surface than they do from the bulk solution [141].

#### 6.1. Optimal protein resistance

An optimal protein resistant effect of PEO on solid surfaces is considered to be dependent on both the polymer chain length (i.e. the molecular weight) and the surface density of the chains. By considering the relative contribution of each of the components to the overall repulsion it has been suggested that a lower surface density of high molecular weight PEO is more effective in reducing protein adsorption than a higher surface density of the low molecular weight polymer [142,143]. However, Jeon et al. [144,145] suggested that the surface density of PEO chains have a greater effect than their length. To explain the molecular weight dependence of PEO on protein adsorption it has been suggested that lower molecular weight PEO chains may not provide sufficient lowering of the interfacial free energy [141]. Also, small PEO chains have been shown to be less mobile than the larger ones [138]. Antonsen et al. [139] hypothesized that the protein resistance of the PEO modified surface is molecular weight dependent due to the unique way in which the PEO molecule binds water. The water molecules, that are hydrogen bonded to

the ether oxygens of PEO, are believed to form a protective hydration shell around the molecule (so called structured water). At low molecular weights only tightly-bound water is associated with the PEG chain. As the molecular weight of a PEO molecule rises, the cloud temperature also increases, suggesting an increased amount of bound water. It has also been suggested that as the molecular weight increases, the chain begins to fold in on itself, forming segment-segment interactions as it traps additional, more loosely bound water between the segments. Thus, the folding of the PEG chain into a hydrated coil results in the formation of a repulsive hydrated layer. This folding can occur only above a certain molecular weight of the PEG chain, with molecular weights of 1500 and 3500 Da being suggested as the critical values [139,142,146]. An increase in PEO molecular weight above these values did not result in further reduction in protein adsorption [140,142,146]. This can be compared with the biological properties of PEO modified nanoparticulate carriers, where layers of relatively short 2000 Da PEO are shown to be able to produce long circulating nanoparticles [8,10,95].

## 6.2. Computer modelling

Recently, computer molecular simulations have been performed to study interactions of PEO surfaces with proteins [40,147]. The work by Lim and Herron [147] demonstrates that the mobility and density of PEO chains on the surface determines the extent of protein-polymer surface interaction. On a rigid crystalline PEO surface the protein remains virtually stationary while it was swept along and drifted from the surface of mobile PEO chains. The protein moved away much faster from a more densely covered surface (18 Å separation distance between PEO chains) than from less densely covered surface (24 Å separation). Unfortunately, due to limits in computation time, water molecules in the surrounding environment were not included into these simulations. It is critical that water is taken into account when comparing experiments with such computer simulations.

### 6.3. Critical plasma components

As mentioned earlier, according to the current hypothesis it is the interaction of particulate carriers with an array of blood components and the balance in opsonic-dysopsonic effects, and not just protein rejection from the surface, that determine the processes of recognition and site specific deposition. Hence, research has been directed towards identifying the specific serum components that interact with the particular carrier surface [58,134,135,148]. It has recently been shown that the pattern of protein adsorption onto a range of PEO-PPO-PEO modified polystyrene latices reveals quantitative and qualitative differences in the protein adsorption depending on the PEO coating [135]. Poloxamer 238 (4580-2620-4580 Da) coated particles exhibited much higher protein adsorption than Poloxamine 908 coated particles. Two dimensional polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis detected 550 spots for the former (the fibrinogen spot being dominant) and only 200 spots for the Poloxamine 908 system. In their recent work, Moghimi et al. [21] suggested that the longevity of Poloxamine 908 coated particle in circulation is because Poloxamine 908 suppresses opsonization but allows dysopsonins in the serum to act. The nature of these dysopsonic factors and the mechanism by which they interact with PEO layer to provide the observed effects remain to be established.

## 7. Concluding remarks

A detailed consideration of the factors that determine the adsorption of amphipathic PEO copolymers onto a particle surfaces and factors that influence interactions of a PEO covered surface with proteins can be made. It is then not difficult to imagine that PEO coatings on different systems could result in particulate carriers with different surface properties that would, consequently, differ in their interaction with plasma proteins and the degree and the balance of adsorbed opsonins and dysopsonins which determine the site of deposition of the carrier. Long circulating systems have been produced by forming a PEO layer on the surface of polymeric particles with a particle size between 60 and 200 nm. The PEO layer may be produced by grafting, adsorption of amphipathic copolymers or through the use of grafted PEG copolymers. The PEG molecular weight should be about 2000 Da or higher. A certain selectivity in the site of deposition can be achieved by different coatings and particle size. To increase selectivity or deposition, methods for directing the carrier within the body (possibly by attachment of a targetable moeity (antibody) at the PEO chain end) have already been suggested [88]. The major challenge in this field is still to establish a correlation between the physicochemical properties of the systems and their interaction with blood components and resulting site of deposition. This correlation would then open a possibility of designing targetable systems with desirable biological properties.

#### References

- [1] Deasy, P.B. (1984) Microencapsulation and Related Drug Processes. Marcel Dekker, New York and Basel.
- [2] Napper, D.H. and Netchey, A. (1971) Studies of the steric stabilization of colloidal particles. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 37, 528-535.
- [3] Van Oss, C.J. (1978) Phagocytosis as a surface phenomenon. Annu. Rev. Microbiology 32, 19–39.
- [4] Abuchowski, A., Van Es, T., Palczuk, N.C. and Davis, F.F. (1977) Alteration of immunological properties of bovine serum albumin by covalent attachment of polyethylene glycol. J. Biol. Chem. 252, 3578-3581.
- [5] Illum, L. and Davis, S.S. (1983) Effect of nonionic surfactant poloxamer 338 on the fate and deposition of polystyrene microspheres following intravenous administration. J. Pharm. Sci. 72, 1086–1090.
- [6] Illum, L. and Davis, S.S. (1984) The organ uptake of intravenously administered colloidal particles can be altered using nonionic surfactant (poloxamer 338). FEBS Lett. 167, 79–82.
- [7] Illum, L. and Davis, S.S. (1986) The effect of hydrophilic coatings on the uptake of colloidal particles with mouse peritoneal macrophages. Int. J. Pharm. 29, 53.
- [8] Spenlehauer, G., Bazile, D., Veillard, M., Prudhomme, C. and Michalon, J.P. (1992) Nanoparticules à base d'un copolymer à blocs de polyoxyde d'éthylène et acide polylactique. European Patent Office 0 520 888 A1.
- [9] Gref, R., Minamitake, Y., Peracchia, M.T., Trubetskoy, V., Milshteyn, A., Sinkule, J., Torchilin, V. and Langer,

R. (1993) Biodegradable PEG-coated stealth nanospheres. Proceed. Intern. Symp. Control. Rel. Bioact. Mater. 20, 131–132.

- [10] Stolnik, S., Dunn, S.E., Garnett, M.C., Davies, M.C., Coombes, A.G.A., Taylor D.C., Irving, M.P., Purkiss, S.C., Tadros, T.F., Davis, S.S. and Illum, L. (1994) Surface modification of poly(lactide-co-glycolide) nanospheres by biodegradable poly(lactide)-poly-(ethylene glycol) copolymers. Pharm. Res. 11, 1800– 1808.
- [11] Labarre, D., Vittaz, M., Spenlehauer, G., Bazile, D. and Veillard, M. (1994) Complement activation by nanoparticulate carriers. Proc. Int. Symp. Control. Rel. Bioact. Mater. 21, 91–92.
- [12] Davis, S.S., Illum, L., McVie, J.G. and Tomlinson, E. (Eds.) (1984) Microspheres and Drug Therapy, Pharmaceutical, Immunological and Medical Aspects. Elsevier, Amsterdam, New York, Oxford.
- [13] Poznanski, M. and Juliano, R.L. (1984) Biological approaches to controlled delivery of drugs, A critical review. Pharm. Rev. 36, 277-336.
- [14] Tomlinson, E. and Davis, S.S. (Eds.) (1986) Site-Specific Drug Delivery: Cell Biology, Medical and Pharmaceutical Aspects. Wiley, Chichester.
- [15] Gregoriadis, G., Senior, J. and Poste, G. (Eds.) (1986) Targeting of drugs with synthetic systems. NATO Advanced Series A, Life Sciences, Plenum Press, New York.
- [16] Illum, L. and Davis, S.S. (Eds.) (1987) Polymers in Controlled Drug Delivery, Wright, Bristol.
- [17] Ulrich, F. and Zilversmit, D.B. (1970) Release from alveolar macrophages of an inhibitor of phagocytosis. Am. J. Physiol. 218, 1118-1127.
- [18] Moghimi, S.M. and Patel, H.M. (1988) Tissue specific opsonins for phagocytic cells and their different affinity for cholesterol rich liposomes. FEBS Lett. 233, 143– 147.
- [19] Moghimi, M.S. and Patel, H.M. (1993) Serum factors that regulate phagocytosis of liposomes by Kupffer cells. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 21, 128S.
- [20] Patel, H.M. (1992) Serum opsonins and liposomes: their interaction and opsonophagocytosis. Crit. Rev. Ther. Drug Carrier Systems 9, 39–90.
- [21] Moghimi, S.M., Muir, I.S., Illum, L., Davis, S.S. and Kolb-Bachofen, V. (1993) Coating particles with a block co-polymer (poloxamine 908) supress opsonization but permits the activity of dysopsonins in the serum. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1179, 157-165.
- [22] Illum, L., Davis, S.S., Muller, R.H., Mak, E. and West, P. (1987) The organ distribution and circulation time of intravenously injected colloidal carriers sterically stabilized with a block co-polymer-poloxamine 908, Life Sci. 367, 40-47.
- [23] Moghimi, S.M. and Davis, S.S. (1994) Innovations in avoiding particle clearance from blood by kupffer cells: cause for reflection, Crit. Rev. Ther. Drug Carriers Syst. 11, 31-60.
- [24] MacRitchie, F. (1972) The adsorption of proteins at the

solid/liquid interface, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 38, 484-488.

- [25] Norde, W. and Lyklema, J. (1978) The adsorption of human plasma albumin and bovine pancreas ribonuclease at negatively charged polystyrene surfaces, II Hydrogen ion titration. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 66, 266-276.
- [26] Norde, W., MacRitchie, F., Novicka, G. and Lyklema, J. (1986) Protein adsorption on solid-liquid interfaces: Reversibility and conformation aspects. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 112, 447-455.
- [27] Young, B.R., Pitt, W.G. and Cooper, S.L. (1988) Protein adsorption on polymeric biomaterials I. Adsorption isotherms. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 124, 29–38.
- [28] Vroman, L. (1991) Proteins in blood plasma at interfaces. In: M. Bender (Ed.) Interfacial phenomena in biological systems, Surfactant Science Series, Marcel Dekker, New York, pp. 136–150.
- [29] Golander, C.G. and Pitt, W.G. (1990) Characterization of hydrophobicity gradients prepared by means of radio frequency plasma discharge. Biomaterials 11, 32– 35.
- [30] Arai, T. and Norde, W. (1990) The behavior of some model proteins as solid-liquid interfaces 2. Sequential and competitive adsorption, Colloids and Interfaces 51, 17-28.
- [31] Tabata, Y. and Ikada, Y. (1988) Effect of the size and surface charge of polymer microspheres on their phagocytosis by macrophage. Biomaterials 9, 356–362.
- [32] Tabata, Y. and Ikada Y. (1990) Phagocytosis of polymer microspheres by macrophages. Advances in Polymer Science, Vol. 94, Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 107-141.
- [33] Israelachvili, J.N. (1985) Intramolecular and Surface Forces, With Applications to Colloidal and Biological Systems. Academic Press, London.
- [34] Hunter, R.J. (1993) Introduction to Modern Colloid Science. Oxford Science Publications, Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp. 54–55.
- [35] Gregoriadis, G. and Neerunjun, D.E. (1974) Control of the rate of hepatic uptake and catabolism of liposomeentrapped proteins into rats. Possible therapeutics applications, Eur. J. Biochem. 47, 179–185.
- [36] Kissel, T. and Roser, M. (1991) Influence of chemical surface-modification on the phagocytic properties of albumin nanoparticles, Proc. Int. Symp. Control. Release Bioact. Mater. 18, 275–276.
- [37] Juliano, R.L. and Stamp, D. (1975) The effect of particle size and charge on the clearance of liposome encapsulated drugs. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 63, 651-658.
- [38] Tabata, Y. and Ikada Y. (1989) Protein precoating of polylactide microspheres containing a lipophilic immunopotentiator for enhancement of macrophage phagocytosis and activation. Pharm. Res. 6, 296–301.
- [39] Douglas, S.J., Davis, S.S. and Illum, L. (1986) Biodistribution of poly(butyl 2-cyanoacrylate) nanoparticles in rabbits. Int. J. Pharm. 34, 145–152.
- [40] Torchilin, V.P., Omelyanenko, V.G., Papisov, M.I., Bog-

danov Jr., A.A., Trubetskoy, V.S., Herron, J.N. and Gentry, C.A. (1994) Poly(ethylene glycol) on the liposome surface: on the mechanism of polymer-coated liposome longevity. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1195, 11–20.

- [41] Harper, G.R., Davies, M.C., Davis, S.S. Tadros, Th.F., Taylor, D.C., Irving, M.P. and Waters, J.A. (1991) Steric stabilization of microspheres with grafted polyethylene oxide reduces phagocytosis by rat kupffer cells in vitro. Biomaterials 12, 695–699.
- [42] Klibanov, A.L., Maruyama, K., Torchilin, V.P. and Huang, L. (1990) Amphipathic polyethylene-glycols effectively prolong the circulation time of liposomes, FEBS Lett. 268, 235-237.
- [43] Senior, J., Delgado, C., Fisher, D., Tilcock, C. and Gregoriadis, G. (1991) Influence of surface hydrophilicity of liposomes on their interaction with plasma protein and clearance from the circulation: studies with poly(ethylene glycol)-coated vesicles, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1062, 77–82.
- [44] Allen, T.M., Hansen, C., Martin, F., Redemann, C. and Yau-Young, A. (1991) Liposomes containing synthetic lipid derivatives of poly(ethylene glycol) show prolonged circulation half-lives in vivo. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1066, 29–34.
- [45] Feast, W.J. and Munro, H.S. (Eds.) (1987) Polymer Surfaces and Interfaces. Wiley, Chichester.
- [46] Missirlis, Y.F. and Lemm, W. (Eds.) (1991) Modern Aspects of Protein Adsorption on Biomaterials. Kluwer, Dordrecht.
- [47] Harris, M.J. (Ed.) (1992) Poly(ethylene glycol) Chemistry: Biochemical and Biomedical Application. Plenum Press, New York.
- [48] Pirma, I. (Ed.) (1992) Polymeric surfactants. Surfactant Science Series, Marcel Dekker, New York, Basel, Hong Kong.
- [49] Tadros, F.T. (1982) Polymer adsorption and dispersion stability. In: Tadros, F.T. (Ed.), The Effect of Polymers on Dispersion Properties, Academic Press, London, pp. 1-18.
- [50] Muller, R.H., Wallis, K.H., Troster, S.D. and Kreuter, J. (1992) In vitro characterization of poly(methyl-methacrylate) nanoparticles and correlation to their in vivo fate. J. Control. Release 20, 237–246.
- [51] Gabizon, A. and Papahadjopoulos, D. (1992) The role of surface charge and hydrophilic groups on liposome clearance in vivo. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1103, 94– 101.
- [52] Gabizon, A. and Papahadjopoulos, D. (1988) Liposome formulations with prolonged circulation time in blood and enhanced clearance by tumours. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 85, 6949–6956.
- [53] Allen, T.M. and Chonn, A. (1987) Large unilamellar liposomes with low uptake into the reticuloendothelial system. FEBS Lett. 223, 42–46.
- [54] Olivier, J.C., Vauthier, C., Taverna, M., Ferrier-Baylocq, D., Puisieux, F. and Couvreur, P. (1994) Comparative study of the stability of orosomucoid adsorbed on polyisobutyl-cyanoacrylate nanoparticles

in the presence of serum and of a low albumin concentration. Proc. Intern. Symp. Control. Release Bioact. Mater. 21, 144-145.

- [55] Mridula, N. (1992) Biocompatible emulsion particles, European Patent Application 0535 534 A1.
- [56] Illum, L. and Davis, S.S. (1987) Targeting of colloidal particles to the bone marrow. Life Sci. 40, 1553–1560.
- [57] Porter, C.J., Moghimi, S.M., Illum, L. and Davis, S.S. (1992) The polyoxyethylene/polyoxypropylene block co-polymer Poloxamer-407 selectively redirects intravenously injected microspheres to sinusoidal endothelial cells of rabbit bone marrow. FEBS Lett. 305, 62-66.
- [58] Norman, M.E., Williams, P. and Illum, L. (1993) Influence of block copolymers on the adsorption of plasma proteins to microspheres. Biomaterials 14, 193– 202.
- [59] Kreuter, J. and Troster, S. (1989) Influence of surface properties of 14C-poly(methylmethacrylate) nanoparticles on biodistribution. Proc. Int. Symp. Control. Release Bioact. Mat. 16, 144.
- [60] Illum, L., Jacobsen, L.O., Muller, R.H., Mak, E. and Davis, S.S. (1987) Surface characteristics and the interaction of colloidal particles with mouse peritoneal macrophages. Biomaterials 8, 113–117.
- [61] Illum, L., Hunneyball, I.M. and Davis, S.S. (1986) The effect of hydrophilic coatings on the uptake of colloid particles by the liver and peritoneal macrophages. Int. J. Pharm. 29, 53-67.
- [62] Moghimi, S.M., Hedeman, H., Muir, I.S., Illum, L. and Davis, S.S. (1993) An investigation of the filtration capacity and the fate of large filtered sterically-stabilized microspheres in rat spleen. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1157, 233-240.
- [63] Klibanov, A.L., Maruyama, K., Beckerleg, A.M., Torchilin, V.P. and Huang, L. (1991) Activity of amphipathic poly(ethylene glycol) 5000 to prolong circulation time of liposomes depends on the liposome size and is unfavourable for immunoliposome binding to target. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1062, 142–148.
- [64] Litzinger, D.C., Buiting, A.M.J., Van Rooijen, N. and Huang, L. (1994) Effect of liposome size on the circulation time and intraorgan distribution of amphipathic poly(ethylene glycol)-containing liposomes. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1190, 99–107.
- [65] Beck, L.R., Cowsar, D.R., Lewis, D.H., Cosgrove, R.J., Riddle, C.T. Lowry, S.L. and Epperly, T. (1979) A new injectable microcapsule system for the administration of progesterone, Fertil. Steril. 31, 545-549.
- [66] Sanders, L.M., Kent, J.S., McRae, G.I., Vickery, B.H., Tice, T.R. and Lewis, D.H. (1984) Controlled release of a luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone analogue from poly(D,L-lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres, J. Pharm. Sci. 73, 1294–1297.
- [67] Ruis, J.M., Tissier, B. and Benoit, J.P. (1989) Microencapsulation of peptide: a study of the phase separation of poly(D,L-lactic acid-coglycolic acid) copolymers 50/50 by silicone oil. Int. J. Pharm. 49, 69–77.
- [68] Ammoury, N., Fessi, H., Devissaguet, J.P., Puisieux, F.

and Benita, S., (1990) In vitro release kinetic pattern of indometacin from poly(D,L-lactide) nanocapsules. J. Pharm. Sci. 79, 763-767.

- [69] Fessi, H., Devissaguet, J.P., Puisieux, F. and Thies, C. (1986) Procédé de préparation de systèmes colloidaux dispersibles d'une substance, sous forme de nanoparticles, French Patent 2,608,988.
- [70] Morin, C., Barrat, G., Fessi H., Devissaguet, J.P. and Puisieux, F. (1993) Biodegradable nanocapsules containing a lipophilic immunomodulator: Drug retention and tolerance towards macrophages in vitro. J. Drug Targeting 1, 157–164.
- [71] Bodmeier R., Chen, H., Tyle, P. and Janosz, P. (1991) Spontaneous formation of drug containing acrylic nanoparticles. J. Microencapsulation 8, 161–170.
- [72] Julienne, M.C., Alonso, M.J., Gomez-Amoza, J.L. and Benoit, J.P. (1992) Preparation of poly(D,L-lactide/glycolide) nanoparticles of controlled particle size distribution: application of experimental design. Drug Dev. Indust. Pharm. 18, 1063–1077.
- [73] Niwa, T., Takeuchi, H. Hino, T., Kunou, N. and Kawashima, Y. (1993) Preparations of biodegradable nanospheres of water-soluble and insoluble drugs with D<sub>L</sub>-lactide/glycolide copolymer by a novel spontaneous emulsification solvent diffusion method, and the drug release behaviour. J. Control. Release 25, 89–98.
- [74] Coffin, M.D. and McGinity, J.W. (1992) Biodegradable pseudolatexes: The chemical stability of poly(D,L-lactide) and poly(gamma-caprolactone) nanoparticles in aqueous media. Pharm. Res 9, 200–205.
- [75] Scholes, P.D., Coombes, A.G.A., Illum, L., Davis, S.S., Vert, M. and Davies, M.C. (1993) The preparation of sub-200 nm poly(lactide-glycolide) microspheres for site-specific drug delivery. J. Control Release 25, 145– 153.
- [76] Muller, R.H. and Wallis, K.H. (1993) Surface modification of i.v. injectable biodegradable nanoparticles with poloxamer polymers and poloxamine 908. Int. J. Pharm. 89, 25–31.
- [77] Stolnik, S., Davies, M.C., Illum, L., Davis, S.S., Boustta, M. and Vert, M. (1994) The preparation of sub-200nm biodegradable colloidal particles from poly(β-malic acid-co-benzyl malate) copolymers and their surface modification with Poloxamer and Poloxamine surfactants. J. Control. Release 30, 57–67.
- [78] Krause, H.J., Schwartz, A. and Rohdewald, P. (1985) Polylactide acid nanoparticles, a colloidal drug delivery system for lipophilic drugs. Int. J. Pharm. 27, 145–155.
- [79] Bodmeier, R. and Chen, H. (1990) Indometacin polymeric nanosuspensions prepared by microfluidization, J. Control. Release 12, 223–233.
- [80] Koosha, F., Muller, R.H., Davis, S.S. and Davies, M.C. (1989) The surface chemical structure of poly(betahydroxybutyrate) microparticles produced by solvent evaporation process, J. Control. Release 9, 145–157.
- [81] Stolnik, S. (1994) Potential submicrometer particulate carriers: preparation and surface modification with amphipathic copolymers, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Zagreb.

- [82] Oppenheim, R.C., Gipps, E.M., Forbes, J.F. and Whitehead, R.H. (1984) Development and testing of proteinaceous nanoparticles containing cytotoxics. In: S.S. Davis, L. Illum, J.G. McVie and E. Tomlinson (Eds.), Microspheres and Drug Therapy, Pharmaceutical, Immunological and Medical Aspects. Elsevier, Amsterdam, New York, Oxford, pp. 117–129.
- [83] Artursson, P., Brown, L., Dix, J., Goddar, P. and Petrak, K. (1990) Preparation of sterically stabilized nanoparticles by desolvation from graft copolymers. J. Polymer Sci.: Part A Polym. Chem. 28, 2651–2663.
- [84] Allemann, E., Gurny, R. and Doelker, E. (1993) Drugloaded nanoparticles: preparation methods and drug targeting issues. Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 39, 173–191.
- [85] Allemann, E., Gurny, R., Doelker, E., Skinner, F.S. and Schutz, H. (1993) Sustained-release properties of drug loaded poly(lactic acid) nanospheres after intravenous and intramuscular injections to rats. Proc. Int. Symp. Control. Release. Bioact. Mater. 20, 129– 130.
- [86] Gref, R., Minamitake, Y., Peracchia, M.T., Trubetskoy, V., Torchilin, V. and Langer, R. (1994) Biodegradable long-circulating polymeric nanospheres. Science 263, 1600-1603.
- [87] Stolnik, S., Garnett, M.C., Davies, M.C., Illum, L., Bousta, M., Vert, M. and Davis, S.S. (1995) The colloidal properties of surfactant free biodegradable nanospheres from  $poly(\beta$ -malic acid-co-benzyl malate)s and poly(lactic acid-co-glycolide). Colloids Surf. A: Physicochem. Eng. Aspects 97, 235–245.
- [88] Peracchia, M.T., Gref, R., Minamitake, Y., Domb, A. and Langer, R. (1994) PEG-coated nanospheres for intravenous drug delivery and targeting. Proc. Int. Symp. Control. Release Bioact. Mater. 21, 513–514.
- [89] Churchill, J.R. and Hutchinson, F.G. (1986) Biodegradable amphipathic copolymeres, European Patent Application, 0 166 596 A3.
- [90] Hu, D.S.G. and Liu, H.J. (1994) Structural analysis and degradation behavior in polyethylene glycol/poly(Llactide) copolymers, J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 51, 473-482.
- [91] Kissel, T., Li, Y.X., Volland, C. and Gorich, S. (1994) Release properties of macromolecules from microspheres of a ABA triblock copolymer consisting of poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) and polyoxyethylene. Proc. Int. Symp. Control. Release Bioact. Mater. 21, 286– 287.
- [92] Katre, N.V. (1993) The conjugation of proteins with polyethylene glycol and other polymers. Altering properties of proteins to enhance their therapeutic potential. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 10, 91–114.
- [93] Dunn, S.E., Stolnik, S., Garnett, M.C., Davies, M.C., Coombes, A.G.A., Taylor, D.C., M.P. Irving, M.P., Purkiss, S.C., Tadros, T.F., Davis, S.S. and Illum, L. (1994) Biodistribution studies investigating poly(lactide-co-glycolide) ananospheres surface modified by novel biodegradable copolymers, Proceed. Inter. Symp. Control. Release Bioact. Mater. 21, 210–211.
- [94] Dunn, S.E., Garnett, M.C., Davis, S.S., Davies, M.C., and Illum, L. In vitro cell interaction and in vivo

biodistribution of poly(lactide-co-glycolide) nanospheres surface modified by Poloxamer and Poloxamine copolymers, in preparation.

- [95] Dunn, S.E., Brindley, A., Davis, S.S., Davies, M.C. and Illum, L. (1994) Polystyrene-poly(ethylene glycol) (PS-PEG2000) particles as model systems for site specific drug delivery, 2. The effect of PEG surface density on the in vitro cell interaction and in vivo biodistribution. Pharm. Res. 11, 1016–1021.
- [96] Amiji, M.M. and Park, K. (1992) Prevention of protein adsorption and platelet adhesion on surfaces by PEO-PPO-PEO triblock copolymers. Biomaterials 13, 682.
- [97] Connell, G.A., Lin, E.K., Gast, A.P., Huang, J.S., Lin, M.Y. and Smith S.D. (1994) Structure and interactions in tethered-chain systems. Faraday Discuss. 98, in press.
- [98] Hagan, S., Davis, S.S., Tadros, Th.F., Illum, L., Davies, M.C., Taylor, D.C., Irving, M.P., Garnett, M.C., Estimation of the polyethylene glycol chain length of Lpolylactide/polyethylene glycol in aqueous dispersions using viscoelastic measurements. Langmuir, in press.
- [99] Fleer, G.J. and Scheutjens, J.M.H.M. (1990) Block copolymer adsorption and stabilization of colloids. Colloids and Interfaces 51, 281–298.
- [100] Cosgrove, T. (1990) Volume-fraction profiles of adsorbed polymers, J. Chem. Soc. Faraday Trans. 86, 1323–1332.
- [101] Fleer, G.J., Cohen, S.M.A., Scheutjens, J.M.H.M., Cosgrove, T. and Vincent, B. (1993) Polymers at Interfaces. Chapman and Hall, London.
- [102] Robb, I.D. (1989) Adsorption. Comp. Polym. Sci. 2, 733–754.
- [103] Kawaguchi, M. and Takahashi, A. (1992) Polymer adsorption at solid-liquid interfaces. Adv. Colloid Interface Sci. 37, 219–317.
- [104] Sifert, B. and Li, J.F. (1992) Adsorbed layer thickness determination at the solid-liquid interface by different techniques. Colloids Surfaces 62, 307–314.
- [105] Kayes, J.B. and Rawlins, D.A. (1979) Adsorption characteristics of certain polyoxethylene-polyoxypropylene block co-polymers on polystyrene latex. Colloid Polym. Sci. 257, 622–629.
- [106] Baker, J.A., Pearson, R.A. and Berg, J. (1989) Influence of particle curvature on polymer adsorption layer thickness. Langmuir 5, 339–342.
- [107] Baker, J.A. and Berg, J.C. (1988) Investigation of the adsorption configuration of poly(ethylene oxide) and its copolymers with poly(propylene oxide) on model polystyrene latex dispersions. Langmuir 4, 1055–1061.
- [108] Tan, J.S., Butterfild, D.E., Voycheck, K.D., Caldwell, K.D. and Li, J.T. (1993) Surface modification of nanoparticles by PEO/PPO block copolymers to minimize interactions with blood components and prolong blood circulation in rats. Biomaterials 14, 823–833.
- [109] Li, J.T., Caldwell, K.D. and Rapoport, N. (1994) Surface properties of Pluronic-coated polymeric colloids. Langmuir 10, 4475-4482.
- [110] Faers, M.A. and Luckham, P.F. (1994) Rheology of polyethylene oxide-polypropylene oxide block copoly-

mer stabilized latices and emulsions. Colloids Surfaces A: Physicochem. Eng. Aspects 86, 317–327.

- [111] deGennes, P.G., Scaling theory of polymer adsorption, J. Physique, 37 (1976) 1445.
- [112] Munch, M.R. and Gast, A.P. (1988) Block copolymers at interfaces. 2. Surface adsorption. Macromolecules 21, 1366–1372.
- [113] Marques, C. and Joanny, J.F. (1988) Adsorption of block copolymers in selective solvents. Macromolecules 21, 1051-1059.
- [114] Evers, O.A., Scheutjens, J.M.H.M. and G.J. Fleer (1990) Statistical Thermodynamics of block copolymer adsorption. Part 2-Effect of chain composition on the adsorbed amount and layer thickness, J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans. 86, 1333-1340.
- [115] Killmann, E. and Sapuntzjis, P. (1994) Dynamic light scattering of polystyrene latex and silica with adsorbed poly(ethylene oxide) layers: influence of ionic strength and coverage. Colloids Surfaces A: Physicochem. Eng. Aspects 86, 229-238.
- [116] Webber, R.M. and Anderson, J.L. (1994) Effect of adsorbing-block molecular weight on the thickness of adsorbed diblock copolymers. Langmuir 10, 3156–3160.
- [117] Kronberg, B. and Stenius, P. (1984) The effect of surface polarity on the adsorption of non-ionic surfactants I. Thermodynamic consideration, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 102, 410–417.
- [118] Kronberg, B., Stenius, P. and Igeborn, G. (1984) The effect of surface polarity on the adsorption of nonionic surfactants, II. Adsorption on poly(methyl methacrylate) latex, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 102, 418–423.
- [119] Kronberg, B., Stenius, P. and Thorssell, Y. (1984) Adsorption of nonylphenolpoly(propylene oxide)-poly-(ethylene oxide) nonionic surfactants on polystyrene latex. Colloids Surfaces 12, 113-123.
- [120] Ali, S.I., Steach, D.J. and Zollars, R.L. (1987) Effect of ionizable groups on the adsorption of surfactants onto latex particles surfaces. Colloids and Surfaces 26, 1–18.
- [121] Tadros, F.T., and Vincent, B. (1980) Influence of temperature and electrolytes on the adsorption of poly(ethylene oxide)-poly(propylene oxide) block copolymer on polystyrene latex and on the stability of the polymer-coated particles, J. Phys. Chem. 84, 1575– 1580.
- [122] Malmsten, M., Linse, P. and Cosgrove, T. (1992) Adsorption of PEO-PPO-PEO block copolymers at silica, Macromolecules 25, 2747–2481.
- [123] Li, J.T. and Caldwell, C. (1991) Sedimentation fieldflow fractionation in the determination of surface concentration of adsorbed materials. Langmuir 7, 2034–2039.
- [124] Wijmans, C.M., Leermakers, F.A.M. and Fleer, G.J. (1994) Diblock copolymer adsorption on small particles. Langmuir 10, 1331–1333.
- [125] d'Oliveira J.M.R., Xu, R., Jensma, T., Winnik, M.A. (1994) Direct adsorption of polystyrene-poly(ethylene oxide) micelles in water onto polystyrene latex. Langmuir 9, 1092–1097.
- [126] Muller, R.H. (1991) Colloidal Carriers for Controlled

Drug Delivery and Targeting, Modification, Characterisation, and in vivo Distribution, CRC Press, Stuttgart.

- [127] Muller, R.H., Blunk, T., Koosha, F. and Davis, S.S. (1988) Determination of the surface hydrophobicity of colloidal polymeric and emulsion drug carriers, Proceedings of German Pharmaceutical Conference, Erlangen, Germany, September 7–10, pp. 677.
- [128] Moghimi, S.M., Hawley, A.E., Christy, N.M., Gray, T., Illum, L. and Davis, S.S. (1994) Surface engineered nanospheres with enhanced drainage into lymphatics and uptake by macrophages of the regional lymph nodes. FEBS Lett. 344, 25–30.
- [129] O'Mullane, J.E. Davison, C.J., Petrak, K. and Tomlinson, E., (1988) Adsorption of fibrinogen onto polystyrene latex coated with the non-ionic surfactant, poloxamer 338. Biomaterials 9, 203-204.
- [130] Lee, J.H., Kopeček, J. and Andrade, D. (1989) Protein resistant surfaces prepared by PEO-containing block copolymer surfactants. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 23, 351– 368.
- [131] Lee, J., Martic, P.A. and Tan, J.S. (1989) Protein adsorption on Pluronic copolymer-coated polystyrene particles. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 131, 252–266.
- [132] Tan, J.S. and Martic, P.A. (1990) Protein adsorption and conformational change on small polymer particles. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 136, 415-431.
- [133] Norman, M.E., Williams, P. and Illum, L. (1992) Human serum albumin as a probe for surface conditioning (opsonisation) of block copolymer coated microspheres. Biomaterials 13, 841–849.
- [134] Blunk, T., Hochstrasser, D.F., Sanchez, J.-C., Muller, B.W. and Muller, R.H. (1993) Colloidal carriers for intravenous drug targeting: plasma protein adsorption patterns on surface-modified latex particles evaluated by two-dimensional polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. Electrophoresis 14, 1382-1387.
- [135] Blunk, T., Bock, T.K., Hochstrasser, D.F., Sanchez, J.-C., Muller, B.W. and Muller, R.H. (1994) Plasma protein adsorption patterns on fat emulsions compared to modified latex particles. Proc. Int. Symp. Control. Release Bioact. Mater. 21, 503–504.
- [136] Armstrong, T.I., Illum, L., Davies, M.C. and Davis, S.S. (1994) Protein adsorption to potential drug targeting systems. Proc. Int. Symp. Control. Release Bioact. Mater. 21, 182-183.
- [137] Kjellander, R. and Florin, E. (1981) Water structure and changes in thermal stability of the system poly-(ethylene oxide)-water, J. Chem. Soc. Faraday Trans. 1 77, 2053-2077.
- [138] Nagaoka, S., Mori, Y., Tanzawa, H. and Nishiumi, S. (1984) Interaction between blood components and hydrogels with poly(oxyethylene) chains. In: S.W. Shalaby, A.S. Hofman, D.B. Ratner and T. Horbett

(Eds.), Polymers as Biomaterials Plenum Press, New York, pp. 361-374.

- [139] Antonsen, K.P. and Hoffman, A.S. (1992) Water structure of PEG solutions by differential calorimetry measurements. In: J.M. Harris, (Ed.) Poly(ethylene glycol) Chemistry: Biotechnical and Biomedical Applications, Plenum Press, New York, pp. 15-27.
- [140] Bergstrom, K., Osterberg, E., Holmberg, K., Hoffman, A.S., Schuman, T.P., Kozlowski, A. and Harris, J.M. (1994) Effect of branching and molecular weight of surface-bound poly(ethylene oxide) on protein rejection. J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Edn. 6, 123–132.
- [141] Coleman, D.L., Gregonis, D.E. and Andrade, J.D. (1982) The minimum interfacial free energy and optimum polar/apolar ratio hypothesis. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 16, 381-398.
- [142] Gombotz, W.R., Guanghui, W., Horbert, T.A. and Hoffman, A.S. (1992) Protein adsorption to and elution from polyether surfaces, In: J.M. Harris (Ed.) Poly-(ethylene glycol) Chemistry: Biotechnical and Biomedical Applications. Plenum Press, New York, pp. 249– 261.
- [143] Gombotz, W.R., Guanghui, W., Horbert, T.A. and Hoffman, A.S. (1991) Protein adsorption to poly-(ethylene oxide) surfaces. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 25, 1547-1562.
- [144] Jeon, S.I. and Andrade, J.D. (1991) Protein-surface interactions in the presence of polyethylene oxide. II Effect of protein size. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 142, 159–166.
- [145] Jeon, S.I., Lee, J.H., Andrade, J.D. and De Gennes, P.G. (1991) Protein-surface interactions in the presence of polyethylene oxide. I. Simplified theory. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 142, 149-156.
- [146] Golander, C.G., Herron, J.N., Lim, K., Claesson, P., Stenius, P. and Andrade, J.D. (1992) Properties of immobilized PEG films and interaction with proteins, Experiments and modeling. In: J.M. Harris (Ed.) Poly-(ethylene glycol) Chemistry: Biotechnical and Biomedical Applications. Plenum Press, New York, pp. 221-245.
- [147] Lim, K. and Herron, J.N. Molecular simulation of protein PEG interaction. In: J.M. Harris (Ed.) Poly-(ethylene glycol) Chemistry: Biotechnical and Biomedical Applications. Plenum Press, New York, pp. 29-55.
- [148] Leroux, J.C., Gravel, P., Volet, B., Anner, B.M., Doelker, E. and Gurni, R. (1994) Interaction of polyethylene glycol coated poly(D<sub>L</sub>-lactic acid) nanoparticles with human leukocytes and analysis of plasma protein adsorbed onto the particles. Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 1, 40 (Suppl.)